#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHASITY NICOLE SMITH WILBURN,

APPELLANT

VS.

i.

ŧ

i

NO. 2007-CA-01385

WILLIAM HAYWOOD WILBURN,

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

## APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE CHANCERY COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPPI

John T. Lamar, Jr. 🕅 David M. Slocum, Jr. (1 OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLANTS LAMAR & HANNAFORD, P.A. Attorneys at Law 214 S. Ward Street Senatobia, MS 38668 1-662-562-6537

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHASITY NICOLE SMITH WILBURN,

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VS.

r.

ŧ

Ē

ì

NO. 2007-CA-01385

WILLIAM HAYWOOD WILBURN,

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues presented by the Appellant in this Appeal are:

- ISSUE # 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING THE APPELLANT A HEARING ON HER AMENDED PETITION FOR MODIFICATION OF THE DIVORCE DECREE.
- ISSUE # 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND A MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES OR SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A MODIFICATION OF CUSTODY.

i

Ł

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

# A. NATURE OF CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.

This appeal arises from an order entered on May 31, 2007 in the Chancery Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi awarding, among other thing, physical custody to the Appellee, William Wilburn (hereinafter referred to as "Bill"), modifying the Appellant's, Chasity Wilburn (hereinafter referred to as "Chasity"), visitation, and denying and dismissing all remaining requests for relief. (R. 55-57). Request for Reconsideration was duly filed, answered by counsel for the Appellee, and an Order denying the Request for Reconsideration was entered on July 19, 2007. (R. 58-63). The Notice of Appeal along with the Designation of Record was filed on August 8, 2007 and the Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on August 10, 2007 by the law firm of Lamar & Hannaford, P.A., which first became involved in this matter upon appeal. (R. 6-11).

The original Judgment of Divorce and Property Settlement Agreement was entered on June 16, 2004 and contained the following provisions for Child Custody, Support and Visitation:

1. <u>CUSTODY:</u> The parties shall have joint legal custody of the minor children, with Husband having primary physical custody and Wife having reasonable periods of visitation with the children.

2. <u>CHILD SUPPORT:</u> Neither party shall pay child support to the other as Husband shall have primary physical custody of the children and Wife is attending college and not working full-time. The parties shall each pay one-half (½) of all regular school expenses for the minor children while through 12<sup>th</sup> grade. The parties shall divide equally all school fees, school supplies,

-1-

school lunches, school pictures, activity fees and clothing for the children. If the children attend college, each party will be responsible to pay one-half of tuition and the necessary expenses after scholarships, grants, or other means of support or payments. The parties shall divide equally the cost of the children's weddings.

#### 3. <u>VISITATION</u>

#### A. <u>Weekends</u>

The Wife shall have visitation with the minor children every other weekend from Friday evening at 6:00 p.m. through Sunday evening at 6:00 p.m. If Wife is more than thirty (30) minutes late picking up or dropping off the children for visitation then she forfeits her visitation period.

#### B. <u>Holidays</u>

The Wife shall have visitation with the minor child on alternating years as follows:

<u>Holiday</u>	<u>Odd Year</u>	<u>Even Year</u>
New Year's Day	Father	Mother
Easter	Mother	Father
Memorial Day	Father	Mother
July 4 <sup>th</sup>	Mother	Father
Labor Day	Father	Mother
Thanksgiving	Mother	Father
Christmas	Father	Mother

Custody shall commence at 7:00 a.m. and end at 7:00 p.m., with the exception of Christmas Day.

On the <u>Even Years</u>, Husband shall have visitation with the minor children from 6:00 p.m. on Christmas Eve until 10:00 a.m. on Christmas day. Wife shall have visitation with the children from 10:00 a.m. until 6:00 p.m. on Christmas Eve and from 10:00 a.m. until 6:00 p.m. on Christmas Day. On the <u>Odd Years</u>, the schedule will be reversed.

#### C. <u>Special Days:</u>

(1) <u>Father's Day</u> - The Father shall have visitation with the minor children on each Father's Day, regardless of whose weekend on which it may fall, commencing at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 7:00 p.m.

(2) <u>Mother's Day</u> - The Mother shall have visitation with the minor children on each Mother's Day, regardless of whose weekend on which it may fall, commencing at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 7:00 p.m.

(3) <u>Parent's Birthdays and Children's Birthdays</u> - Each parent shall have visitation with the minor children for at least three (3) hours on each of their respective birthdays, regardless of the weekend visitation set forth above.

#### D. <u>Summer</u>

The Wife shall have visitation with the minor children for six (6) weeks during the summer months of June, July taking into consideration the summer and August, vacations of the parents. The six (6)weeks of visitation shall be in week intervals, not two consecutive, in order for the Husband to have one weekend (Friday evening at 6:00 p.m. until Sunday at 6:00 p.m.) in between the Wife's summertime visitation periods. The parents shall communicate with one another to work out the summer custody at least two weeks prior to that occasion.

E. <u>Other</u>

The Wife shall have such other periods of visitation as may be mutually agreed upon between the parties.(R. 17-19)

The of Divorce granted the agreement of Judgment was on Irreconcilable Difference and was entered based upon the agreement 16). Chasity was unrepresented by counsel of the parties. (R. prior to and through the execution of the Property Settlement Agreement and entry of the Judgment for Divorce. (R. 23).

Feeling aggrieved, defrauded, and mislead in regards to the execution of the Property Settlement Agreement, Chasity, by and through counsel, filed a Petition for Modification of Visitation Rights and for Citation for Contempt on December 2, 2004. (R. 28). In the Petition for Modification of Visitation Rights and for Citation for Contempt, Chasity alleged that the parties had agreed to visitation on an alternating weekly basis, that the Decree of

-3-

Divorce was based on fraud, misrepresentation, accident or mistake, and she sought a modification in the Decree of Divorce. (R. 28-32).

On April 25, 2005, Bill, by and through counsel, filed an Answer to the Petition for Modification of Visitation Rights and for Citation for Contempt and Countercomplaint. (R. 33). Bill sought to have Chasity held in contempt for failure to pay her portion of expenses on behalf of the parties' minor children. (R. 34-35).

ſ

ĩ

i.

Ĺ

i.

The record indicates that the parties resolved some of the issues in regards to visitation based on their stipulations on May 2, 2005. (R. 66). On May 2, 2005, the parties agreed to modify the original decree of divorce and increased Chasity's visitation as follows: (1) Every Wednesday night while the girls are in school, (2) increased visitation during the Christmas holidays, and (3) visitation every Spring Break. (R. 66).

The parties apparently continued to experience issues in regards to visitation, communication between the children and Chasity, payment of orthodontic expenses as related to the minor children, and reimbursement for medical and other expenses. (R. 41-42). As a result, the parties filed a Joint Motion on February 23, 2006, requesting the Court to hear testimony and evidence in order to resolve these issues. (R. 41-42).

Subsequently, on May 19, 2006, Chasity filed an Amended Petition for Modification of Divorce Decree in which she sought

-4-

modification of custody in regards to the minor children based on a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the children and alternatively on the basis that the Decree of Divorce was based upon fraud, misrepresentation, accident or mistake. (R. Bill responded with an Answer to Amended Petition for 43-47). Modification of Divorce Decree and Countercomplaint which was filed (R. 48-52). In his Answer to the Amended on May 31, 2006. Petition for Modification of Divorce Decree and Countercomplaint, Bill requested that Chasity be held in contempt for failure to pay expenses that allegedly related to the minor children, held in contempt for violation of the visitation agreement, and requested modification of Chasity's visitation. (R. 49-52).

On October 24, 2006, the Court entered an Order appointing Dr. Wyatt Nichols to interview the parties and minor children in order to complete a psychological evaluation. (R. 53). Additionally, the Order continued the matter until receipt of the report of Dr. Nichols and increased Chasity's visitation from the modification agreement of parties as stipulated into the record on May 2, 2005 to include: (1) every Wednesday night and (2) extended the weekend visitations to Monday morning. (R. 53-54). Additionally, the minor children would have telephone access to their mother when in the custody of their Father and telephone access to their father when in the custody of their Mother. (R. 54).

On May 31, 2007, the Court entered the Order from which this appeal is being taken. (R. 55). No transcript of any hearing in

-5-

relation to this matter held on or about May 31, 2007 exists. (R. 64-123). In that Order, the Court restricted Chasity's visitation as follows:

- a. Every other weekend from 5:00 p.m. on Friday until 5:00 p.m. on Sunday.
- b. Six (6) weeks of visitation during the summer being the first two full weeks in June, the last full week of June, the first full week of July, and the last two weeks of July.
- c. The parties shall alternate the Thanksgiving holiday with the mother having the odd years. The holiday is defined as beginning the day the minor children get out of school until the day before the minor children return to school.

ł

1.

- d. Christmas visitation The mother shall have Christmas visitation on the even years beginning the day school is out for Christmas vacation until 2:00 p.m. on Christmas day. The mother shall have Christmas visitation on the odd years beginning at 2:00 p.m. on Christmas Day until 2:00 p.m. on New Years Day.
- e. The mother shall have visitation each and every Spring Break.
- f. <u>Father's Day</u> The father shall have visitation with the minor children on each Father's Day, regardless of whose weekend on which it may fall, commencing at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 7:00 p.m.
- g. <u>Mother's Day</u> The mother shall have visitation with the minor children on each Mother's Day, regardless of whose weekend on which it may fall, commencing at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 7:00 p.m.
- h. <u>Parent's Birthdays and Children's Birthdays</u> Each parent shall have visitation with the minor children for at least three (3) hours on each of their respective birthdays, regardless of the weekend visitation set out above.
- i. Chasity shall have telephone visitation with the minor children each Tuesday and Thursday night at

7:00 p.m. The children may have additional telephone visitation with Chasity and be allowed to call her when they desire. The aforementioned order was entered without a hearing on the merits as no hearing transcript exists. (R. 55-57).

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

ı

i.

1

The only evidence or testimony that exists in the court file or transcripts of the hearings on this matter is the direct examination of Julie Davidson by Gregory S. Park, Appellant's solicitor throughout the proceedings at the trial court level. (R. 71-116). In her testimony, Ms. Davidson raised numerous issues about the psychological necessity of the children spending more time with their mother, Chasity. (R. 73-76, 112). Her testimony was based on the depression and threats of suicide expressed by Taylor and the feelings of neglect expressed by Courtney. (R. 73-The expert opinion of Wyatt Nichols was apparently 112). considered in this matter, but never placed in the court record or transcripts of the hearings. (R. 58, 117). Additionally, the court did not hear any testimony in regards to the issues before the court other than the aforementioned testimony. (R. 64-123). The limited record is clear that the parties were not in agreement on the order entered by the court as evidenced by the reaction of Chasity and her family to the court's decision and Chasity's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. 58, 117).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Due process is implicated if a full and complete hearing is not allowed. By refusing a party his opportunity to present

-7-

evidence, then the party is thereby deprived of due process. The Appellant was not allowed to present any evidence in support of her Amended Petition for Modification of Divorce Decree. Accordingly, she was deprived of her due process rights and the Order of the Court should be reversed and remanded for a full hearing on the pleadings.

Moreover, the prerequisites for modification of child custody are (1) proving a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the child and (2) finding that the best interests of the child requires the change of custody. In this case, the Court did not make any determination that a material change in circumstances had occurred or hear any testimony in regards to a material change in circumstances. However, the Court decreased the Appellant's periods of visitation with the minor children. Consequently, the Order of the Court should be reversed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

1

r

÷

i

ì.

i.

i :

The standard of review used by the Mississippi Supreme Court in domestic relations cases is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. *Hensarling v. Hensarling*, 824 So.2d 583, 586 (Miss. 2002). The Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial credible evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly

-8-

erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard. Sanderson v. Sanderson, 824 So.2d 623, 625 (Miss. 2002). Legal questions are reviewed de novo. Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So.2d 719, 721 (Miss. 2002).

B. ISSUE # 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING THE APPELLANT A HEARING ON HER AMENDED PETITION FOR MODIFICATION OF THE DIVORCE DECREE.

Article 3, Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution states as follows:

"No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property except by due process of law."

Further, Article 3, Section 25 of the Mississippi Constitution states as follows:

"No person shall be debarred from prosecuting or defending any civil cause for or against him or herself, before any tribunal in the state, by him or herself, or counsel, or both."

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that due process is implicated if a full and complete hearing is not allowed by refusing the party his opportunity to present evidence, then the party is thereby deprived of due process. Weeks v. Weeks, 556 So.2D 348, 349-50 (Miss. 1990); citing Fortenberry v. Fortenberry, 338 So.2d 806 (Miss. 1976). The Court recently held that it is a denial of a party's due process right to deny a motion without holding a hearing where the party is given the opportunity to provide factual support for the allegations in the pleadings that

ı.

i.

i.

í.

È.

-9-

there has been a material change in circumstances. Childers v. Childers, 717 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Miss. 1998).

In the case at bar, the Appellant, who was represented by Gregory S. Park at the trial court level, was denied the opportunity to present factual support for her Amended Petition for Modification of Divorce Decree. In fact, her visitation was modified in a manner to reduce her visitation even though the only evidence in the record is the direct examination of Julie Davidson, which encouraged the court to increase the Appellant's visitation with the minor children. Clearly, the Appellant was denied her due process rights. As a result, this matter should be reversed and remanded for a hearing on the merits on the issues of child custody and visitation.

C. ISSUE # 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND A MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES OR SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A MODIFICATION OF CUSTODY.

In proceedings to modify custody, the prerequisites are (1) proving a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the child and (2) finding that the best interests of the child requires the change of custody. *Robison v. Lanford*, 841 So.2d 1119, 1124 (Miss. 2003). In considering such changes, the chancery court should view the evidence within the totality of the circumstances. *Spain v. Holland*, 483 So.2d 318, 320 (Miss. 1986).

-10-

1

Once a material change is found, a modification of custody is warranted only if it would be in the best interest of the child. Weigand v. Houghton, 730 So.2d 581, 585 (Miss. 1999). In order for the Court to find that a chancellor has not abused his discretion in these matters, there must be sufficient evidence to support his conclusions. Id.; Floyd v. Floyd, 949 So.2d 26, 29 (Miss. 2007). The decision is a multi-step process. Even if a chancellor finds that a material change in circumstance adversely affects the children, the chancellor must "then go forward and determine whether the best interests of the child justify a change of custody. Ash v. Ash, 622 So.2d 1264, 1266 (Miss. 1993). Additionally, a court cannot draft a contract between two parties where they have not manifested a mutual assent to be bound. Palmere v. Curtis, 789 So.2d 126, 132 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001).

r

i

Į.

1

1

i

ι.

1.

As previously mentioned, there must be sufficient evidence to support a chancellor's decision that (1) a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the child has occurred and (2) that the best interests of the child requires a modification of custody. In the case at bar, the chancellor modified the Appellant's visitation without a hearing and without any evidentiary support. In fact, the only evidence of record in this matter indicates that there should be an increase in Chasity's time with the children. Clearly, the Appellee did not prove a

-11-

material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the children due to the fact that no evidence was presented and no hearing held in regards to a material change in circumstances. Additionally, it is equally clear that the parties did not reach an agreement in regards to custody and visitation as evidenced by the reaction of the Appellant and her family, the Request for Reconsideration, and subsequently this appeal. As a result the chancellor's modification of Chasity's visitation should be reversed.

#### CONCLUSION

If a trial court refuses a party her opportunity to present evidence to support her allegations, then that party is thereby deprived of due process. The Appellant was not allowed to introduce evidence and testimony in support of her allegations contained in the Amended Petition for Modification of Divorce Decree. As a result, the Appellant was deprived of her due process rights and the Order of the Court should be reversed and remanded to the trial court for a full hearing on the merits of the pleadings.

1 :

i

ί.

1.

t :

i.

Further, the initial determination when modification of child custody is at issue is whether a material change in circumstances has occurred which adversely affects the welfare of the child. The lower Court did not make any determination in regards to whether

-12-

a material change in circumstances had occurred or hear any testimony or evidence in regards to a material change in circumstances. For these reasons, the Order of the Court was unsupported by substantial evidence and should be reversed.

ş

ſ

£

.

÷

i

Ĺ

Ι.

i,