IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01385

CHASITY NICOLE SMITH WILBURN,

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

WILLIAM HAYWOOD WILBURN

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1) Chasity Nicole Smith Wilburn, Appellant
- 2) William Haywood Wilburn, Appellee
- John T. Lamar, Jr., David M. Slocum, Jr., Lamar & Hannaford, P.A., Attorneys for Appellant

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

i

:

.

-

i

i

í

1

The appeal of the Mother Chasity is untimely, her due process argument is procedurally barred and alternatively, without merit; and the record contains substantial evidence to support the Chancellor's modification of visitation as in the best interest of the minor children.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

,

.

. . .

4

ι,

έ.

i.

The State vests its original power to hear all matters touching the custody and welfare of children in its chancery courts. Miss. Const. (1980) Art. 6 § 159; Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 (1972). The chancellor "may make all orders touching the care, custody and maintenance of the children of the marriage, and . . . afterwards, on petition, change the decree, and make from time to time such new decrees as the case may require. Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 (Supp.1982).

Review of a chancellor's decision in domestic relations cases is limited. *Phillips v. Phillips*, 904 So. 2d 999,1001(Miss. 2004). The chancellor's findings will not be reversed "unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Id.* (citing *Owen v. Owen*, 798 So. 2d 394, 398 (Miss.2001); *Turpin v. Turpin*, 699 So. 2d 560, 564 (Miss.1997)).

The chancellor is the primary judge of the weight and value of the testimony. *Dubois v. Dubois*, 275 So. 2d 100, 101 (Miss.1973). The chancellor is vested with the responsibility to hear the evidence, assess the credibility of the witnesses, and determine ultimately what weight and worth to afford any particular aspect of the proof. *Brewer v. Brewer*, 919 So. 2d 135, 139 (Miss.App.2005). The chancellor's findings of fact so made are entitled to deference, and the Court's duty on appeal is to see if the chancellor's ruling is supported by substantial evidence. *Lee v. Lee*, 798 So. 2d 1284, 1288 (Miss. 2001). This is so, whether the finding relates to an evidentiary fact, (e.g. did Chasity discuss the court proceedings with the minor children despite previous admonishment), or ultimate fact, (e.g. is modification of visitation in the best interest of the minor children). *See Cheek v. Ricker*, 431 So. 2d 1139, 1144 (Miss.1983). The chancellor's decision

should be affirmed "if the record shows any ground upon which the decision may be justified." *Yates* v. *Yates*, 284 So. 2d 46, 47 (Miss.1973).

B. The Appeal of the Mother Chasity is Untimely

ì

ι

L.

i .

Chasity's appeal is untimely and should not be heard.

A motion to alter or amend must be filed within ten days after the entry of judgment. M.R.C.P. 59(e). The court is not permitted to extend this time period. *Comments* to Rule 59. If a Rule 59(e) motion is filed within ten days after the entry of judgment, "the time for appeal for all parties runs from entry of the order disposing of the last such motion outstanding." M.R.A.P. 4(d).

The Chancellor's final Order on visitation was entered on June 1, 2007. Ten days after the entry of the Order was June 11, 2007. Chasity's Rule 59(e) motion was not filed until June 12, 2007, eleven days after entry of the Order. Because Chasity's Rule 59(e) motion was not timely, the period for filing an appeal began on June 1, 2007, and not on July 19, 2007, when the Chancellor's Order was entered denying the post-trial motion. M.R.A.P. 4(d); *Bruce v. Bruce*, 587 So. 2d 898, 904 (Miss. 1991). Chasity did not file a Notice of Appeal until August 8, 2007, – 68 days after the Chancellor's June 1, 2007, Order. Because the appeal was not filed "within 30 days after the date of the entry of judgment or order appealed from," the appeal is untimely and cannot be heard. M.R.A.P. 4(a). The time period for filing an appeal is "mandatory and jurisdictional," and the Court has no authority to extend the time for filing an appeal. *See* M.R.A.P. 2(c) & 26(b).

C. The Due Process Argument of the Mother Chasity is Procedurally Barred and Alternatively, Without Merit

For the first time on appeal, Chasity argues that she was not given "an opportunity to present any evidence in support of her Amended Petition for Modification" and that the absence of a hearing was a violation of her due process rights *Appellant's Brief*, 8. Chasity did not present this due process argument to the Chancellor --- neither at trial nor in her post-trial motion -- and this argument should not be considered on appeal. *In re Adoption of Minor Child*, 931 So. 2d 566, 578 -79 (Miss. 2006).

ł

The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly held that no new issues may be raised on appeal, "especially where constitutional questions are concerned." Powers v. Tiebauer, 939 So. 2d 749, 752 (Miss. 2005). Before an issue may be argued on appeal, it must first be presented to the trial court. In re Hampton, 919 So. 2d 949, 957 (Miss. 2006). Failure to object or argue an issue in the trial court procedurally bars the issue from consideration on appeal. Id.; see State Indus., Inc. v. Hodges, 919 So. 2d 943, 947 (Miss.2006) (issues raised for first time on appeal will not be addressed); City of Jackson v. Internal Engine Parts Group, Inc., 903 So. 2d 60, 66 (Miss.2005) (issue not preserved in motion to amend is barred on appeal); Copeland v. Copeland, 904 So. 2d 1066, 1073 (Miss. 2004) (failure to make contemporaneous objection constitutes waiver of objection and cannot be raised for first time on appeal because trial court is denied opportunity to consider issue and possibly remedy situation); Crowe v. Smith, 603 So. 2d 301, 305 (Miss. 1992) (appellant is not entitled to raise new issue on appeal); Parker v. Game & Fish Comm'n, 555 So. 2d 725, 730 (Miss.1989) (trial judge will not be put in error on matter which has not been presented to him); Mills v. Nichols, 467 So. 2d 924, 931 (Miss. 1985) (trial court will not be put in error on appeal for matter not presented to it for decision); CIG Contractors, Inc. v. Miss. State Bldg. Comm'n, 510 So. 2d 510, 514 (Miss.1987) (appeal on new theory of unconstitutionality will not be entertained on appeal which could have been raised, but was not advanced, before trial court until post-judgment motion).

A review of the chancery court proceedings, furthermore, show that Chasity's due process claim is without merit. On October 18, 2006, after Chasity's first witness was fully questioned by her counsel, the Chancellor stopped trial, conferred with the parties, and determined that he would appoint Dr. Nichols to evaluate the parties and provide input to resolve the visitation issues because he was not satisfied with the counseling that the parties previously received. (T. 49-50). The Chancellor specifically asked whether the parties understood or had any questions, and the parties assured the Chancellor that there were no questions and no problems. (T. 51-52). Chasity did not object to the appointment of Dr. Nichols, and she did not object to the continuance of trial.

,

.

i

Seven months later, at the status hearing on May 30, 2007, where Dr. Nichols's findings were discussed, Chasity made no objection on the record that she was being denied due process because she was unable to present more witnesses. Likewise, in her June 12, 2007, motion to alter or amend, Chasity made no argument to the Chancellor that her due process had been violated. (R. 147-48). In four separate instances before the chancellor – the October 18, 2006, trial; the May 30, 2007, status hearing; in her June 12, 2007, post-trial motion; and at the July 2, 2007, hearing on the post-trial motion – Chasity made no argument that she wished to present more evidence on her petition. She did not object to the Chancellor's control of the evidentiary presentation. She did not what evidence she was allegedly prevented from presenting.

If Chasity's presentation of evidence or trial strategy was adversely affected by the Chancellor's handling of the trial, then Chasity should have made a record outlining that effect and preserved it for appellate review. *Hammers v. Hammers*, 890 So. 2d 944, 957 -958 (Miss.App. 2004). If there is no evidence offered as to what a litigant would have presented but for the trial

court's restriction, "there is no legitimate basis for complaining on appeal about the chancellor's control of evidentiary presentation." *Morreale v. Morreale*, 646 So. 2d 1264, 1270 (Miss.1994). *See Martin v. Wadlington*, 337 So. 2d 706, 708 (Miss.1976) (proffer of excluded evidence necessary for appellate court to determine relevance and materiality of such evidence or whether its exclusion constituted prejudicial error); *Moore v. Moore*, 757 So. 2d 1043, 1046 (Miss.Ct.App.2000) (no legitimate basis for appeal "about the chancellor's control of evidentiary presentations" without proffer); *Gray v. Pearson*, 797 So. 2d 387, 394 (Miss.App. 2001) (the chancellor's ruling on issue stands where no timely objection to evidentiary limitation nor proffer).

Chasity supports her due process argument by relying on *Weeks v. Weeks*, 556 So. 2d 348 (Miss. 1990), a divorce matter where the Mississippi Supreme Court determined that a chancellor violated a husband's due process rights by refusing to allow his witnesses to testify. The obvious distinction between *Weeks* and this case, is that in *Weeks*, the husband made an offer of proof of several witnesses. *Id.* at 349. The Supreme Court found that the chancellor erred by taking judicial notice that the witnesses would testify favorably for the husband instead of allowing the witnesses to testify. *Id.* Unlike the husband in *Weeks*, there is nothing in the record showing Chasity offered witnesses to the Chancellor that he refused to let testify. Chasity, instead, agreed or at least, did not object, to the Chancellor's decision to let Dr. Wyatt Nichols counsel the parties and make the recommendations regarding the parties' issues.

Chasity's also supports her due process argument by relying on *Childers v. Childers*, 717 So. 2d 1279, 1281 (Miss. 1983). In *Childers*, the Chancellor disposed of the husband's motion to modify custody on the pleadings without a hearing. The Mississippi Supreme Court found "[i]t was a denial of James' rights to due process for the Chancellor to deny his motion without holding a

÷

hearing." *Id.* at 1281. Clearly, *Childers* is not on point because the Chancellor did hold a hearing on Chasity's Petition. There was a trial on October 18, 2006. Then, there was a status hearing on May 30, 2007. It was Chasity's burden to put on her proof. If she felt that she was not allowed to put on evidence in support of her Petition, then she should have moved the court for an opportunity to put those witnesses on, and if the Chancellor did not allow her to do so, then she should have made an offer of proof as to the testimony she was not allowed to present. Chasity's due process arguments have no merit.

D. Substantial Evidence in the Record Supports the Chancellor's Decision to Modify Visitation as in the Best Interest of the Minor Children

Appellant Chasity's December 2, 2004, Petition sought modification of her visitation rights. (R. 38). Her May 19, 2006, Amended Petition sought " to modify custody and/or visitation rights." (R.86).

The Chancellor made no custody change and made no specific findings on the record that there was a material change in circumstances necessitating a modification of the custody decree. Because the Chancellor made no specific findings that a material change of circumstances occurred, this Court is required to assume that the Chancellor resolved the custody issue in favor of the Appellee Bill and found that there was no material change in circumstance adversely affecting the minor children. "With respect to issues of fact where the chancellor made no specific finding, we are required by our prior decisions and by sound institutional considerations to assume that the chancellor resolved all such fact issues in favor of appellee." *Cheek v. Ricker*, 431 So. 2d 1139, 1143-44 (Miss. 1983).

,

1

The Chancellor correctly found in favor of the Appellee Bill that a custody change was not

warranted. Chasity's only grounds for modifying custody and visitation were that the Appellee Bill's "strict adherence to the visitation schedule set forth in the Decree" was a material change in circumstances (R.38-41, 86-88), or "fraud, misrepresentation, and/or misconduct... or accident or mistake" because Bill led the Mother Chasity to believe that alternating weekly visitation would continue after entree of the Decree. (R. 41, 88). Chasity argues "[h]ad there not been sufficient assurances from [the Father] that visitation would remain as it had been prior to the finalization of the divorce she would not have executed the Property Settlement Agreement and proceeded forward without seeking advice of counsel." (R. 41).

Chasity's lack of representation of counsel prior to the entry of the Decree has no bearing on the custody and visitation she agreed to in the Decree. The law is clear that "having elected to proceed without an attorney, a person is bound by the same rules of practice and procedure as an attorney." *Bullard v. Morris,* 547 So. 2d 789, 790 (Miss.1989).

Chasity's argument that the Chancellor should enforce a "side agreement" of alternating weekly visitation that the parties practiced prior to the entry of the Decree is equally without merit. The law is equally clear that no agreement is final or enforceable until approved by the court. *Traub v. Johnson*, 536 So. 2d 25 (Miss. 1988), and the agreement approved by the court must be the one honored by the parties to the litigation. *Spearman v. Spearman*, 471 So. 2d 1204 (Miss. 1985). In *Sullivan v. Pouncey*, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

×.

i

A prior agreement entered into by the parties is not enforceable, if not approved by the court. It would be tantamount to defrauding the court for parties to present to the court a property settlement agreement, which is subsequently incorporated into the final decree, while actually intending to abide by a contradictory, private contract. This is clearly against public policy.

469 So. 2d 1233, 1234 (Miss 1985). Parents are not free to enter into private agreements as a part

of any proceedings where custody of minor children is at stake, relative to either initial grants of custody or modifications of custody. *McKee v. Flynt*, 630 So. 2d 44 (Miss. 1993).

The Chancellor was also correct to decrease Chasity's visitation rights based on testimony that she continued to discuss the legal proceedings with the minor children, despite the Chancellor's orders for her not to do so, and based generally on her disruption in the courtroom and general disrespect of the Chancellor's orders. (T. 58).

Visitation and the restrictions placed upon them are committed to the broad discretion of the chancellor. *Harrell v. Harrell*, 231 So. 2d 793, 797 (Miss.1970); *Cheek v. Ricker*, 431 So. 2d 1139, 1146 (Miss. 1983); *Clark v. Myrick*, 523 So. 2d 79, 83 (Miss.1988); *Harrington v. Harrington*, 648 So. 2d 543, 545 (Miss.1994); *Mixon v. Mixon*, 724 So. 2d 956, 961 (Miss.Ct.App.1998); *Newsom v. Newsom*, 557 So. 2d 511, 517 (Miss.1990); *McCracking v. Champaigne*, 805 So. 2d 586, 590 (Miss.App. 2001). The chancellor has broad discretion in determining appropriate visitation between a parent and child, as well as any limitation on such visitation. *Suess v. Suess*, 718 So. 2d 1126, 1130 (Miss.App.1998)

The chancellor's discretion to amend visitation schedules to advance the best interest of the children is broader than the discretion to change custody. *McCracking*, 776 So. 2d at 695. The visitation decisions of the chancellor should be afforded great deference. *Mixon*, 724 So. 2d at 960.

In *Cox v. Moulds*, 490 So. 2d 866, 869 (Miss.1986), the Mississippi Supreme Court set the standard for a trial court to follow when confronted with a request to alter a parent's visitation schedule with a minor child. The Court stated in Cox that in order to modify the visitation schedule "[a]ll that need[s][to] be shown is that there is a prior decree providing for reasonable visitation rights which isn't working and that it is in the best interests of the children." *Cox*, 490 So. 2d at 869.

į.

While the Chancellor modified visitation, not custody, the Appellant Chasity cites the wrong legal standard throughout her brief in arguing that the Chancellor's modification of visitation was error. Chasity argues:

In this case, the Court did not make any determination that a material change in circumstances had occurred or hear any testimony in regards to a material change in circumstances. However, the Court decreased the Appellant's periods of visitation with the minor children. Consequently, the Order of the Court should be reversed."

Appellant Brief, p.8.

Clearly, the Appellee did not prove a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the children due to the fact that no evidence was presented and no hearing held in regards to a material change in circumstance.

Appellant Brief, p. 12.

2

ſ

i.

The Chancellor was not required to determine that there was a material change in circumstance in order to modify Chasity's visitation rights. The material change in circumstances rule has no application when the issue is modification of visitation. *Sistrunk v. McKenzie*, 455 So. 2d 768, 770 (Miss.1984); *Suess v. Suess*, 718 So. 2d 1126, 1130-1131 (Miss.App.1998); *Shepherd v. Shepherd*, 769 So. 2d 242, 245 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000); *Olson v. Olson*, 799 So. 2d 927, 929 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). The Chancellor was only required to find that a modification of visitation was in the best interest of the minor children. *Id*.

While Chasity argues that the Chancellor modified visitation "without any evidentiary support," *Appellant Brief*, p. 11, the record is clear that this is not the case. The Chancellor harbored great concern about Chasity's discussion of the court proceedings with the minor children. (T. 58).

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